FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2020 1:59 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Washington Supreme Court No. 98890-1

Court of Appeals No. 80571-1-I Court of Appeals No. 79173-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

EMILY RAINS, ET AL., Petitioners,

v.

KEYSTONE WINDOWS AND DOORS, Respondent.

On Review from the Washington Court of Appeals Division and King County Cause No. 12-2-40707-0 SEA

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Emily Sharp Rains Attorney for Petitioners 4760 South Highland Drive No. 402 Salt Lake City, Utah 84117

1. Identity of Petitioners

The Petitioners are Emily Rains, Michael Rains, and Rains

Law Group. (the "Petitioners"). The Petitioners were the Defendants
in King County, and the Appellants before Division I.

2. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals decision in *Rhodes v. Rains*, 80571-1-I (June 22, 2020)(attached hereto), and *Rhodes v. Rains*, 79173-7-I (July 27, 2020)(attached hereto).

3. Issues Presented for Review¹

A. Appeal no. 80571-1-I

- 1. Does the court's narrow definition of fraud conflict with earlier appellate CR 60(b)(4) cases?
- 2. Does the court's failure to resolve the question of fraud conflict with earlier appellate cases which hold that the question of fraud must be resolved first, before deciding whether a CR 60(b)(4) motion was timely?
- 3. Is the public policy against fraud on the courts undermined by the court's approach in this appeal because the question of fraud will rarely be decided and therefore, not deterred?
- 4. Does the court's award of sanctions pursuant to RAP 18.9 conflict with *Green River Comm. Coll. Dist. No. 10*?

B. Appeal no. 79173-7-I

¹ The 2014 trial transcript will be referred to herein as "RP1", the 2018 trial transcript as "RP2", and the transcript of the CR 60 hearing as "RP3".

1. Did the court err when it failed to resolve the question of fraud and instead relied on the fraud to decide the appeal against Rains, the innocent party?

4. Statement of the Case

A. Procedural History

Keystone, and its sole owner, Michan Rhodes, filed this lawsuit against the Defendants for breach of fiduciary duty, malpractice, and violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. CP 1-13. The malpractice and CPA claims were dismissed at summary judgment, and the breach of fiduciary duty claim proceeded to trial in August 2014. *Rains' Op. Br. Appx. App. No.* 80571-1-I, p. 19-22. Fraud at the trial resulted in a verdict for Keystone. CP 2588-2591, CP 2166-2169. But Rains prevailed on her wage claim against Keystone. Id.

After the 2014 trial, Rhodes filed an appeal seeking to reverse the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of the CPA claim. *Rhodes v. Rains*, 195 Wash. App. 235, 381 P.3d 58 (2016). Rhodes prevailed (again, because of fraud) and the CPA claim was remanded for trial. *Id; Rains' Op. Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I.

In the 2018 trial, Rhodes engaged in the same fraud. *Id.* This resulted in a verdict for Keystone against Emily and Michael Rains, individually (but not against Rains Law Group²). *Id.*; CP 200-202.

After the 2018 trial, Rains filed a CR 60(b)(4) motion asking the trial court to set aside the 2014 judgment based on fraud. CP 702-790. The motion was denied. CP 2765-2767. Rains appealed and the Court of Appeals concluded that Rains' motion was not timely, but it did not address the fraud. *Rhodes*, No. 80571-1-I, p. 9, fn. 8. Rains also appealed the 2018 judgment in which she, again, raised the issue of fraud. *Rains Op. Br. App. No. 79173-7-I*. This appeal also included a motion to recall the September 19, 2016 mandate remanding the CPA claim.³ *Id.* The second court, like the first court, did not resolve the question of fraud either. *Rhodes*, No. 79173-7-I, unpublished (*no discussion*). Instead, it relied on the fraud to decide the appeal against Rains. *Id.*; *see also* p. 5, fn. 4.

² The verdict against Rains Law Group in 2014, was based on false testimony given by Rhodes at trial, coupled with misleading evidence (partial telephone records). RP1 281:7-25, RP1 282:1-20. Notably, in the 2018 trial, Rhodes changed her testimony about the billing allegation against Rains Law Group and the partial phone records were excluded when Rains' objection was sustained, resulting in a verdict in favor of Rains Law Group on the same allegations, but this time, for the CPA claim. (2018 trial) RP2 40-47, RP2 635:20-25, RP2 636:1-19; CP 206; see also *Rains' Op. Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I, pp. 8-9.

³ The Court of Appeals asked Rains to re-brief her motion to recall the September 19, 2016 mandate in appeal no. 80571-1-I., which she did, and then it relied on the outcome of this appeal instead of resolving the question itself. *Rains' Op. Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I, p. 1.

B. The Fraud

At both trials, fraud by Rhodes, which included a forgery and false testimony by Rhodes, and her key witness, Grace Alonzo, resulted in verdicts against Emily Rains, individually. Rains' Op. Br. App. No. 80571-1-I, pp. 1-11; Rains' Op. Br. 79173-7-I, pp. 22-22. Alonzo was a former R&R⁴ bookkeeper who was hired to work on Keystone's books. CP 508, ¶¶ 2-4. In March 2012, after R&R closed, Alonzo went to work for Keystone directly. CP 1368-1395. In April 2012, Alonzo left Keystone (with a grudge). CP 512, ¶12. On October 17, 2012, Rains quit. CP 1411-1416. In 2013, almost a year after Rains' resignation, Rhodes re-hired Alonzo to "assist" her with this litigation against Rains. CP 510, ¶8, CP 1678-1679; RP2 681 (Rhodes); RP2 486:3-4 (Alonzo); RP3 15. The evidence which supports Rains' motion to vacate proves that Rhodes and Alonzo went into Keystone's Quickbooks (after Emily Rains quit working for Keystone) and created a fake document which Rhodes offered at trial to support Alonzo's testimony that she had knowledge of double-

1

⁴ R&R is the short name for Rains & Rains (formerly Rains Strategic Accounting). R&R was a Washington limited liability company owned by Emily, Michael, and an unrelated third party. R&R provided bookkeeping and accounting services. R&R has never been a party to this lawsuit. Nor have the Plaintiffs ever taken any action to pierce the veil to overcome the protection provided by RCW 25.15.126 and establish personal liability of the members. *Curtis v. Milosavljevic*, Appeal No. 78248-7-I, unpublished (2019).

billing by R&R. This document was entered in the litigation records as exhibits 30, 7, 97, and A. CP 1696-1728, 515-19 (copy of exhibits); CP 510 ¶8, CP (Alonzo SJ Decl. testimony); RP2 483-89 (Alonzo's 2018 trial testimony/deposition); RP1 582:9-25, RP1 583-87 and CP 1677-1679 (Alonzo's 2014 trial testimony).

During summary judgment Alonzo gave the following declaration testimony about the document:

"Emily had me reconcile all the Rains companies to make sure there were no duplicate invoices. When I did find a duplicate, I printed it out and emailed it to Emily, who in turn told me to contact Michael. So I emailed Michael the duplicate invoice number and asked him to contact me. When Michael finally called me back, he asked me to show him where the duplicate invoice was in Quickbooks. Although I had printed it out and it was in front of me on my desk, it was no longer in Quickbooks. I ended up researching this missing invoice by pulling a report called the audit trail and found that he had voided the invoice. This is Keystone Quickbooks 3/9/12 Invoice #20120219-20120303-40877-009, a copy which is attached as exhibit A. The word "void" is clearly shown in the highlighted area. This invoice was entered back into Keystone's Quickbooks on July 27, 2012 with the word "void" still showing. (I noticed this in late 2013, when I reviewed Keystone's financial records for Michan). I did not know why Michael was acting in such an unprofessional manner and bluntly lying that the invoice did not exist when in actuality he had just voided it out." CP 509-510. (emphasis added)

Alonzo would go on to give, almost verbatim, the same testimony about this document during the 2014 trial, except that she also claimed *for the first time* that after the duplicate invoice was re-

entered into Keystone's Quickbooks in July 2012, it was then paid.⁵ RP1 582:9-25, RP1 583-87, CP 1677-1679. Alonzo's declaration was relied on by the Court of Appeals in 2016 when it decided to remand the CPA claim. Then, during the 2018 trial, over Rains' objection, Plaintiffs were allowed to read Alonzo's entire deposition transcript into the record which included the forged invoice and Alonzo's perjury related to it.⁶ RP2 483-89. Shortly, before the 2018 trial, Rains found a back-up copy of Keystone's Quickbooks that she had brought with her to trial to impeach Alonzo's and Rhodes' testimony. She also brought with her all the R&R work logs⁷ for the bookkeepers who had worked on Keystone's account, including Alonzo's logs.⁸ But, because Alonzo did not testify in-person, Rains was denied the opportunity to cross examine her using the evidence. RP2 422-531.

After the second trial in 2018, Rains consulted two forensics experts. CP 732-735; CP 791-851. They analyzed Rains' back-up copy

_

⁵Neither Rhodes, nor Alonzo have ever presented a copy of a check drafted against Keystone's bank account proving multiple payments for a single R&R invoice.

⁶ Rains' attorney did not attend Alonzo's deposition because Alonzo had no personal knowledge related to the claims made against Defendants based on the allegations in the complaint or Rhodes' answers to Rains' interrogatories. RP2 429-531 cf. CP 1-13, CP 1064-1092.

⁷ The bookkeepers reported their work on excel spreadsheets. CP 1675-1678. This is how the bookkeepers got paid and how clients were billed. *Id*.

⁸ Rains has been an out-of-state litigant since 2013 (SLC, UT). During the 2014 trial, the work logs and related paychecks which she needed to impeach Alonzo were back in Utah (and Rains did not recall having a copy of Keystone's QuickBooks).

of Keystone's Quickbooks. CP 792, ¶3; CP 814; CP 821, ¶4. In their declarations in support of Rains' CR 60(b)(4) motion, both of the experts testified that no one had gone into Rains' copy of Keystone's Quickbooks and added, removed, or changed any information since the date of its back-up. ⁹ *Id.* Rains' experts testified that the duplicate invoice (and the related transactions) that Alonzo repeatedly testified about did not exist in Keystone's Quickbooks prior to October 18, 2012 (the day following Rains' last day of work). CP 791-794, 813-819, 820-823, 825-833. If the duplicate invoice (and the related transactions) were not in Keystone's Quickbooks as of October 18, 2012, then Alonzo and Rhodes went into Keystone's Quickbooks after Rains' employment ended, created the duplicate invoice and backdated it to make it look like it was a document that existed in Keystone's Quickbooks during the time Emily worked for Keystone. In short, Alonzo's testimony couldn't be true if the document (and the related transactions) did not exist until after Emily's employment ended with Keystone.

After Rhodes was confronted with the experts' testimony,
Rhodes' attorney, Dan Young, *admitted* during the CR 60 hearing that

_

⁹ Rains did ask Rhodes' attorney to produce a copy of Keystone's Quickbooks so that her experts could examine it and pinpoint the fraud, but Young refused. CP 913, CP 1962-1966.

the duplicate invoice did *not* exist in 2012 while Emily was employed by Keystone. Here is what he said:

"...[I]n her deposition, [Alonzo] talks about it, in three different places, how she came back in 2013 and reviewed Keystone's financial records to help try to straighten everything out, they were in such a mess. So it is pretty clear from her testimony that she never made the claim that these things, that these records came from the 2012 QuickBooks file. She never made that claim. We never made that claim. I'm not making the claim now." RP3 15:5-23 through RP3 16-1-2. "I don't disagree with their -- necessarily their expert, quote-unquote, declarations about these documents weren't in the QuickBooks files in 2012. Okay. So what? We never claimed they were." RP3 15:24-25 through RP3 16:1-2.

But Young's position, *after* the experts testified, is in direct conflict with Alonzo's testimony, *before* the experts testified. CP 510 ¶8 (Alonzo SJ Decl.); RP2 483-89 (Alonzo's 2018 trial testimony/deposition); RP1 582:9-25, 583-87, CP 1677-1679 (Alonzo's 2014 trial testimony). Young's admission is hardly a "so what?" Especially since Rhodes and Keystone benefitted multiple times from the use of the forgery and perjury (e.g. 2014 verdict, remand on appeal no. 72801-6-I, 2018 verdict, CR 60 hearing, and now app. nos. 79173-1-I). Apart from the forged invoice and the perjury related to it, the only evidence offered in support of Rhodes' billing allegation against R&R was false testimony by Rhodes and Alonzo.

Alonzo testified that R&R's invoices, on their face, contained evidence of double billing, anytime a work description was used more than once on an invoice because it was a company policy that all entries on a bookkeeper's work log be unique. CP 1680-1682; RP1 581:13-25, RP1 582:1-3, RP1 590:19-25, 591:1-5, RP1 592-96; RP2 499:13-25, RP2 500:1-3, RP2 505:12-13; RP1 576:8-9. The bookkeepers' work logs prove that all the items on the R&R invoices, including those that Alonzo asserts are examples of double billing, was work performed by either Alonzo, or one of the other three bookkeepers. CP 1368-1395 (R&R invoices), 1417-1418 (fee breakdown), 1530-1570 (Pehrson's logs), 1572-1582 (Ying's logs), 1583-1624 (Alonzo's logs), 1625-1656 (Christensen's logs).

In addition, Rhodes testified that not a single change was made to Keystone' Quickbooks, meaning that R&R did no work. RP2 685:1-6. But this testimony is contradicted by the experts' testimony. CP 794, ¶8; CP 814; CP 823, ¶8; CP 833. Both experts testified that there

10

¹⁰ The bookkeepers' work logs were created using excel. If a bookkeeper performed work on day one and then performed the same work on day three, when the bookkeeper goes to enter the description into their work log, Excel will auto complete the description to save time. This is not evidence of double-billing.
¹¹ All the time reported by the bookkeepers on the work logs was paid for by R&R. CP 1368-1395 (R&R invoices) *cf.* CP 1530-1570 (Pehrson's logs), CP 1572-1582 (Ying's logs), CP 1583-1624 (Alonzo's logs), CP 1625-1656 (Christensen's logs). By contrast, Keystone never paid for all the services invoiced by R&R. CP 1417-1418 (fee breakdown).

were more than 8,000 transactions entered into Keystone's Quickbooks during this time, which means a *substantial* amount of work had been done. *Id.* Rhodes also testified that she never received a single invoice. CP 1124; RP2 664:14-21. And, Alonzo testified that none of R&R's invoices were entered into Keystone's Quickbooks until August 2012. RP1 575:24-25, 576:1-5. Again, the experts' testimony proves that these were lies. ¹² CP 792-93, ¶4, CP 817-818; CP 882, ¶5; CP 832.

Rains' motion to recall the mandate wasn't just based on the forgery and perjury by Rhodes and Alonzo in their declarations. *Rains' Op. Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I pp. 16-18; *Rains' Reply Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I, p. 11 fn. 12; *Rains' Op. Br App. No.* 79173-7-I pp. 8, 10-33, *Rains' Reply Br. Appeal No.* 79173-7-I, p. 1. It was also based on perjury by Duce in his summary judgment declaration. *Id.* But Rains did not get the evidence of this perjury until the 2018 trial. Thus, her motion was timely.

_

¹²Rains' forensic experts testified that all of R&R's invoices were entered on the invoice date or within a couple of days of the invoice date, which means Rhodes had between 1.5 years to 7 months (depending on the invoice) to review invoices. CP 792-93, ¶4, CP 817-818; CP 882, ¶5; CP 832. This is important because Rhodes had ample time to review the invoices and object, but she never did.

¹³ Rhodes' summary judgment declaration directly conflicted with her testimony in both the 2014 and 2018 trials, and Duce's declaration directly conflicted with his 2018 trial testimony. *Rains Op. Br. App. No.* 80571-1-I, p. 16-18; *Rains Op. Br. App. No.* 79371-7-I, p. 8-34 *cf.* CP 438-506 (Rhodes's SJ Decl. testimony), CP 507-548 (Alonzo's SJ Decl. testimony), and CP 549-551 (Duce's SJ Decl. testimony).

5. Argument Why Review Should be Granted

A. Appeal no. 80571-1-I

Rains' Petition for Review should be granted because the Court of Appeals decision in appeal no. 80571-1-I, not only conflicts with earlier appellate decisions (*see discussion supra*), but it will be relied on as persuasive authority by future courts deciding CR 60(b)(4) motions where, even though fraud permeates the record, the courts never reach the question of fraud, so the fraud and its fruits stand indefinitely. This will undermine the public policy against fraud on the courts and the public's faith in a system that is set-up to protect and safeguard them. *Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co.*, 322 U.S. 238, 246 (1944).

i. The court's narrow definition of fraud conflicts with earlier appellate cases.

This Court has held that [p]erjury is "fraud on the court." *State v. Berrysmith*, 87 Wash.App. 268, 272, 944 P.2d 397 (1997). "Perjury...is the deliberate testifying to something as true which is not, in fact, true. *In Re Jett*, 6 Wash.2d 724, 728, 100 P.2d 635 (1940). The *Petett* Court held that the use of a forgery is fraud on the court. 14 *Pettet*

11

¹⁴ "[M]isrepresentation or other misconduct' would also justify vacation of the judgment under CR 60(b)(4)." *Mitchell v. WSIPP*, 153 Wash. App. 803, 825, 225

v. Wonders, 23 Wn.App. 795, 599 P.2d 1297 (1979), review denied 93 Wn.2d 1002 (1979). And, numerous appellate cases have found that a wide array of acts/omissions justify a set aside pursuant to CR 60(b)(4). Wingard v. Heinkel, 1 Wash. App. 822, 823, 464 P.2d 446 (1979)("plaintiff failed to disclose to the court relevant facts within his knowledge"); OB-1, LLC v. Pinson, No. 29077-8-III, unpublished (2011)(non-moving party failed to disclose all relevant facts to court); Thorn v. Cromer, No. 32585-7-III, unpublished (2015)(wife's false statements about husband's income led to entry of order, court of appeals reversed), review granted 189 Wash. App. 1032 (2016); Marriage of Maddix, 41 Wn. App. 248, 253, 702 P.2d 1061(1985)(non-moving party failed to disclose value of business leading to interest in business being awarded to nonmoving party); Suburban Janitorial v. Clarke American, 72 Wn. App. 302, 309, 863 P.2d 1377 (1993)(silence); *Marriage of Himes*, 136 Wash. 2d 707, 736, 965 P.2d 1087 (1998)(false affidavit for service by publication in non-moving party's dissolution action where non-moving party was always aware of moving party's address); In Re of Marriage of Mahalingam, 21 Wn. App. 228, 584 P.2d 971 (1978)(moving party

P.3d 280 (2009); citing In re Marriage of Maddix, 41 Wash.App. 248, 252, 703 P.2d 1062 (1985).

was defrauded into signing a separation agreement and the court, believing the agreement was mutual, entered a final order); *Mitchell v. Washington*, 153 Wash. App 803, 813, 225 P.3d 280 (2009)(false documentation used to support a cost bill); *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989)(misrepresentation of findings of fact); and *Pettet v. Wonders*, 23 Wn.App. 795 (a document with a false signature and an employee's perjury in relation to it), review denied 93 Wn.2d 1002 (1979).

Like *Pettet*, Rains' motion to vacate was based on a forgery and the perjury given in relation to it by Rhodes' employee, Alonzo.¹⁵ CP 510 ¶8, CP (Alonzo SJ Decl. testimony); RP2 483-89 (Alonzo's 2018 trial testimony/deposition); RP1 582:9-25, RP1 583-87; CP 1677-1679 (Alonzo's 2014 trial testimony). Though the forgery in this case is different from the forgery in *Petett*, it is nonetheless a forgery because a forged instrument includes any "written instrument which has been falsely made, completed, or altered ... which is put off as a true written instrument." RCW 9A.60.010, RCW 9A.60.020.

Unlike *Petett*, Rains doesn't even have to prove that it is a forgery, because now that Rhodes has been confronted with evidence

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