FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/25/2020 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98890-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EMILY SHARP RAINS and MICHAEL RAINS and RAINS LAW GROUP,

Appellants,

v.

KEYSTONE WINDOWS AND DOORS, INC.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KEYSTONE

Treated as an Answer to Petition for Review

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Attorney for Respondent Keystone 1000 Second Avenue Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 829-9947

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

Ms. Alonzo experienced problems with the accounting. One problem was that Emily would write several checks and many times those checks were paying the exact same invoices that had already been paid with other checks. RP 4-448. So Ms. Alonzo not only had to reconcile the checks but had to go in and make changes to apply payments from checks to other outstanding invoices, as "there was so much overlapping that was happening." RP 4-448-49. Ms. Alonzo had "eight different checks that paid 25 duplicate invoices." RP 4-449.

Another problem Ms. Alonzo encountered was having two different checks payable to two different people, with both checks having the same check number. RP 4-474. This represented "a big problem." *Id*.

Ms. Alonzo was tasked with running various reports, but it was not to see the financial health of Keystone. RP 4-477-79. The reports were "very inaccurate" RP 4-480. Keystone paid 63 overdrafts charges totaling \$2,331 between October of 2011 and December of 2012. RP 4-481-82.

Ms. Alonzo also observed how Mr. Rains billed the fees payable by Keystone to Rains and Rains Consulting, as Emily asked Ms. Alonzo to review all the bills that Rains and Rains Consulting had billed to Keystone to make sure that there were no duplicate invoices. RP 4-483. Ms. Alonzo did find a duplicate invoice entered on July 12, 2012, which she printed out and mailed to Emily. RP 4-484. Emily asked Ms. Alonzo to contact Mr. Rains, to whom Ms. Alonzo emailed the

duplicate invoice number and asked Mr. Rains to contact Ms. Alonzo. *Id.* When he called Ms. Alonzo back and asked her to show him where the duplicate invoice was in QuickBooks, it was gone from QuickBooks. *Id.* Mr. Rains acted like he didn't know what Ms. Alonzo was talking about and that the invoice was not in the system. RP 4-488. Ms. Alonzo had printed out the invoice and it was in front of her on her desk, but it was no longer in QuickBooks, as when she logged back into the Rains and Rains Consulting vendor account, she could not find the invoice anymore. RP 4-484; RP 4-489. Ms. Alonzo later researched the missing invoice in late 2013, when she was reviewing Keystone's financial records, and found that Mr. Rains had voided the invoice. RP 4-484. He later brought the invoice back up and paid Rains and Rains Consulting from that invoice. RP 4-489.

Ms. Alonzo also pointed out a number duplicate time entries within various invoices from Rains Consulting to Keystone. RP 4-491-492; 4-497 - 500; 4-505 - 508; 4-514; Ex. 99.

Ms. Alonzo never saw any invoices from Rains and Rains Consulting scanned into Keystone's system during the time Ms. Alonzo worked at Keystone from November 9, 2011 to April 5, 2012. RP 4-493; RP 4-494. Mr. Rains would take the hours and descriptions worked by Heather or Ms. Alonzo, enter them into Keystone's

QuickBooks system and cut a check to R&RC. RP 4-493.

Ultimately Ms. Alonzo was offered a job in Seattle, but she did not accept it. RP 4-429. Ms. Alonzo told Heather that Ms. Alonzo felt that the Rains were cheating Keystone, that "the pay that Emily was pulling from Keystone just for herself was outrageous when [Ms. Alonzo] knew Emily wasn't doing any of the financial work that was needed to be done for the company. * * * All the vendor bills weren't being paid, and insurance was being canceled, and gas cards being canceled, and Milgard's outstanding balance was increasing, and Compton's, and the Verizon bills were being past due, but [Emily] was increasing her pay . . . " RP 4-531.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

After Emily's verbal resignation from Keystone on October 17, 2012, Michan brought the present lawsuit. RP 5-707. The complaint alleged breach of fiduciary duty, attorney malpractice and violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. CP 1-13. The trial court dismissed the malpractice and CPA claims shortly before trial, leaving only the breach-of-fiduciary duty claim for the jury. *Rhodes v. Rains*, 195 Wn. App. 235, 242, 381 P.3d 58 (2016).

2014 Trial. The jury returned a verdict on September 2, 2014, finding that the Rains had breached their fiduciary duties to Michan

and Keystone and that such conduct caused total damages of \$96,449.67. CP 2166-69. A judgment on the verdict was entered on November 5, 2014, in the amount of \$40,162.89, after allowing offsets for counterclaims raised by the Rains defendants. CP 2182-84. The Rains defendants' filed post-trial motions under CR 59, CR 59(h) and CR 54(d)(2). CP 330-380. The trial court denied all of these motions. CP 2185-86. The judgment against the Rains defendants was satisfied on May 10, 2016, following multiple garnishments of Rains' wages and the ultimate sale of her house in Seattle. CP 2200-01. The Rains appealed, but later dismissed their appeal.

CPA Appeal. Rhodes and Keystone timely appealed the pretrial dismissal of their CPA claim. *Rhodes*, 135 Wn. App. at 242. On appeal, the court of appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal of plaintiffs' CPA claim and remanded for trial on that claim. *Rhodes v. Rains*, *supra*, 195 Wn. App. 235.

2018 Trial. On remand, the plaintiffs' CPA claim was tried to a jury in the second trial from August 6 through August 15, 2018. RP 1-2; RP 8-1275. The jury returned a verdict against Emily Rains and Michael Rains and in favor of Keystone on its CPA claim in the amount of \$80,000. CP 2252-54. The trial court awarded enhanced damages of \$25,000, but remitted the \$80,000 jury award on the basis that it

was "offset by prior award" in the first trial. CP 2487. The court awarded attorney's fees to Keystone, resulting in a total judgment entered on October 5, 2018 in the amount of \$174,587.45 against the Rains defendants. CP 2486-2487. The Rains defendants filed post-trial motions for judgment as a matter of law and remittitur. CP 330-380. These motions were denied. CP 408-409.

Appeal of 2018 Trial. On November 1, 2018 the Rains defendants timely filed a notice of appeal of the judgment on the jury verdict. CP 410-411. Keystone cross-appealed the trial court's offsetting the \$80,000 awarded by the jury in the 2018 trial against the verdict awarded in the 2014 trial. CP 2485. The court of appeals in an unpublished decision #79173-7-1 filed on July 27, 2020 (a) affirmed the judgment in the 2018 trial, (b) reversed the \$80,000 offset, (c) awarded attorney's fees on appeal to Keystone, and (d) remanded the case for entry of an additional judgment against the Rains defendants in the amount of \$80,000.

CR 60(b)(4) Motion in the 2014 Trial. While the appeal of the 2018 trial was pending, the Rains defendants filed on June 19, 2019, seven months after the 2018 trial was completed, a CR 60(b)(4) and (11) motion to vacate the judgment entered by Judge Chung in the 2014 trial on the grounds of fraud and perjury. CP 702-790. They

accused Michan, witness Grace Alonzo, expert witness attorney Brian Krikorian, and witness Kyle Duce of perjury and knowingly testifying falsely in both trials. They accused Michan's counsel of suborning perjury and knowingly using perjured testimony in both trials and filing false declarations in obtaining the opinion in the court of appeals.

In support of their motion they submitted 1325 pages of materials of unknown provenance, along with two declarations of forensic experts who do not mention the word "fraud." The purpose in submitting these materials and designating them as clerk's papers in the 2014 case was apparently to designate those same clerk's papers as part of the record in the 2018 appeal.

Judge Chung denied the motion on September 10, 2019 on the basis that (1) the CR 60(b) motion was not brought within a reasonable time (nearly five years since the 2014 judgment was entered without any explanation for the delay) and (2) the Rains did not show that fraud was committed, and certainly not with clear and convincing evidence. App. A; CP 2765 - 2767.

Appeal of Denial of the Rains' CR 60(b) Motion. The Rains timely filed a notice of appeal of Judge Chung's denial of their CR 60(b) motion relating to the 2014 trial and filed an appellate brief.

Finding of Frivolous Appeal. Ultimately the court of appeals in an unpublished decision in case #80571-1-I filed on June 22, 2020 affirmed Judge Chung's discretionary ruling and, finding that the appeal was frivolous, awarded attorney's fees in the amount of \$12,620 to Keystone on the basis of a frivolous appeal.

Petition for Review. On August 12, 2020 the Rains filed the present petition for review of the decisions of the court of appeals regarding the affirmance of the denial of their CR 60(b) motion in case #80571-1-I (Supreme Court #98890-1). They also filed a petition for review of the affirmance of the 2018 judgment on the jury verdict in court of appeals case # 79173-7-I (Supreme Court # 98891-9).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In their current petition the Rains essentially reargue their fraud and perjury theories relating to the court of appeals' decisions and the outcome of the two trials. These fraud claims are patently false, are categorically denied by Michan's counsel (CP 2525) and were rejected by Judge Chung, who presided over the 2014 trial. CP 2765 - 2767; Ex. A.

The decision to grant or deny a motion to vacate a judgment under CR 60(b) is within the trial court's discretion. *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 360, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). Vacation of a

judgment is an extraordinary remedy, and there must be clear and convincing evidence of fraud or misconduct in order to vacate a judgment. *Lindgren v. Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 596, 794 P.2d 526 (1990). The Rains defendants have not come close to showing an abuse of discretion. Because the Rains defendants waited nearly five years to file their CR 60(b) motion—an unreasonable length of time—and failed to establish fraud, their appeal of the denial of their CR 60(b) motion was frivolous, as the court of appeals has determined.

Finally, the Rains defendants have not established any of the grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals in Case #80571-1-I Properly Found that the Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Denying the Rains' CR 60(b) Motion.

Under CR 60(b)(4), the superior court may vacate a judgment due to "[f]raud, . . . misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party." CR 60(b)(4). The court of appeals reviews a superior court's ruling on a motion to vacate a judgment under CR 60(b) for abuse of discretion. *In re Parenting & Support of C.T.*, 193 Wn. App. 427, 434, 378 P.3d 183 (2016); *Showalter v. Wild Oats*, 124 Wn. App. 506, 510, 101 P.3d 867 (2004). A trial court has "considerable

discretion" in its disposition of motions under CR 60(b). *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 361.

A court abuses its discretion if its decision to deny a CR 60(b) motion is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *Showalter*, 124 Wn. App. at 510. Therefore, an appellate court will overturn the superior court's decision only if the decision "rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard," or if the superior court applied the correct legal standard, but "adopt[ed] a view 'that no reasonable person would take." *Mitchell v. Wash. State Inst. of Pub. Policy*, 153 Wn. App. 803, 822, 225 P.3d 280 (2009) (quoting *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1012 (2010).

Moreover, there must be clear and convincing evidence of fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct in order to vacate a judgment. *Dalton v. State*, 130 Wn.App. 653, 665, 124 P.3d 305 (2005); *Lindgren*, *supra*, 58 Wn.App. 588, 596. Clear and convincing evidence is that which shows the ultimate fact at issue to be highly probable. *Dalton*, 130 Wn.App. 653, 666. Appellate courts defer to the superior court's credibility determinations. *Mitchell*, 153 Wn. App. at 814. The Rains defendants have brought forward no such clear and convincing evidence. Their repeated, vague and conclusory

accusations of fraud and perjury are without any evidentiary basis and without any support in the record. Even the two forensic experts they hired did not use the word "fraud" in describing their findings.

In addition, relief under CR 60(b)(4) is authorized only if the alleged fraud actually caused the entry of judgment "such that the losing party was prevented from fully and fairly presenting its case or defense." *Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. at 596. Fraud or misconduct that is harmless will not support a motion to vacate. 4 Karl B. Tegland, *Washington Practice: Rules Practice* § 8, at 613 (6th ed. 2013); see *Farooq v Khan*, #77974-5-1 (unpublished, filed March 2, 2020) *slp opn* at 4-5. The Rains cannot support a claim that they were prevented from fully and fairly presenting their case to the jury.

Here, even if the document was "forged" as the Rains defendants claim and most of Keystone's witnesses "perjured" themselves, the Rains defendants have not shown that the "forged" document or "perjured" testimony affected the jury verdict, or for that matter, that the jury even awarded any damages for padded invoices or double charges by the Rains defendants. The Rains defendants had a full opportunity to present their defenses to the jury and the jury did not accept them. Any trial court error in this regard was harmless.

Finally, the Rains defendants' CR 60(b) appeal was frivolous

because (1) they failed to make any showing that their nearly five-year unexplained delay in filing the motion was reasonable and (2) they did not provide clear and convincing evidence of fraud as required under CR 60(b)(4). CP 2765 - 2767; Appendix A. The trial court's ruling was discretionary and no abuse of discretion was shown. Accordingly, considering the record as a whole, their CR 60(b) appeal contained "no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal." *Green River Community College, District No.* 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Board, 107 Wn.2d 427, 443, 730 P.2d653 (1986). Attorney's fees were properly awarded to Keystone for the Rains defendants' frivolous appeal.

B. The Rains Defendants Have Not Established any Grounds for Acceptance of Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United states is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should

be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

The petition of the Rains defendants does not fit within any of these categories. They do not seriously argue that the appellate court decision here conflicts with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. They raise no constitutional issue. And they fail to articulate any issue "of substantial public interest" that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Their vague assertions of "fraud" and scattered, conclusory claims of "perjury" –all rejected by the superior court and two panels of the Court of Appeals—are not worthy of this Court's time and attention when there actually are cases of substantial public interest which this Court should decide. But this case is not such a case. The Rains's petition for review should be denied.

C. Keystone is Entitled to Attorney's Fees on this Petition for Review.

The court of appeals determined that the Rains defendants' appeal of the denial of their CR 60(b) motion was frivolous, and awarded attorney's fees to Keystone. Where a statute authorizes fees to the prevailing party, they are available on appeal as well as in the trial court. *Eagle Point Condominium Owners Association v. Coy*, 102 Wn. App. 697, 716, 9 P.3d 898 (2000). Since the Rains

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